RECEIVED

09-04-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018 AP 000770-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC BURROWS,

Defendant- Appellant.

BRIEF & APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON FEBRUARY 27, 2018, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SHEBOYGAN COUNTY The Honorable Edward Stengel, Presiding Trial Court Case No. 2016 CF 535

Respectfully submitted:

ANDEREGG & ASSOCIATES Post Office Box 170258 Milwaukee, WI 53217-8021 (414) 963-4590

By: Rex R. Anderegg State Bar No. 1016560 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTEDvii						
STATEMENT ON PUBLICATIONix						
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENTix						
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS1						
ARGUMENT10						
I.	ISSU ORCI WAS	"TEMPORARY ARREST WARRANT" ED BY THE SHEBOYGAN POLICE TO HESTRATE THE ARREST OF BURROWS UNLAWFUL AND VIOLATED THE RATION OF POWERS DOCTRINE10				
II.	UNLA IT WA ACT NOT	ARREST OF BURROWS WAS AWFUL BECAUSE EITHER AS AN EXTRA-JURISDICTIONAL OR THE ARRESTING AGENCY DID HAVE INFORMATION ESTABLISHING BABLE CAUSE FOR THE ARREST16				
	А.	Sheboygan Police Were Outside Their Jurisdiction And Thus Without Legal Authority To Act16				
	B.	Manitowoc Sheriff Deputies Did Not Have <i>Any</i> Knowledge Upon Which To Base Their Arrest Of Burrows, Much Less Knowledge Rising To The Level Of Probable Cause17				
III.	THE SEARCH OF BURROWS' VEHICLE					
	FOLLOWING HIS ARREST BY					
	SHEBOYGAN POLICE OFFICALS WAS					
	UNL	AWFUL21				

	А.	Sheboygan Police Were Outside Their Jurisdiction21		
	B.	There Was No Reasonable Basis To Believe Burrows' Vehicle Contained Evidence Of Stalking21		
	C.	The Search Violated Section 968.11, Stats24		
IV.	BY SH IMPU DEPU	I IF THE FACTS DEVELOPED HEBOYGAN POLICE ARE TED TO MANITOWOC SHERIFF'S JTIES, THEY DID NOT CONSTITUTE BABLE CAUSE TO ARREST25		
V.	NOT S CAUS SEIZE	SEARCH WARRANTS WERE SUPPORTED BY PROBABLE SE, AND ALL EVIDENCE ED PURSUANT THERETO MUST JPPRESSED		
CONC	CLUSI	ON AND RELIEF REQUESTED29		
CERTIFICATIONS				
APPE	NDIX			
	Judgm	ent of Conviction App. A		
		<i>v. Ott</i> , 2015 WI App 75, Vis. 2d 194, 870 N.W.2d 247 App. B		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Wisconsin Cases Cited:

City of Waukesha v. Gorz, 166 Wis. 2d 243, 479 N.W.2d 221 (Ct. App. 1991)17
Desjarlais v. State, 73 Wis. 2d 480, 243 N.W.2d 453 (1976)19
Loveday v. State, 74 Wis. 2d 503, 274 N.W. 2d 116 (1976)26
<i>Radloff v. National Food Stores, 247 Inc.,</i> 20 Wis. 2d 224, 123 N.W.2d 570 (1963)17
<i>Rinehart v. State</i> , 63 Wis. 2d 760, 218 N.W.2d (1974)14
<i>Sanders v. State,</i> 69 Wis. 2d 242, 230 N.W.2d 845 (1975)27-28
<i>Schaffer v. State</i> , 75 Wis. 2d 673, 250 N.W.2d 326 (1977)20
<i>State v. Allen,</i> 2010 WI 89, 328 Wis. 2d 1, 786 N.W.2d 12410
<i>State v. Barrett,</i> 96 Wis. 2d 174, 291 N.W.2d 498 (1980)16-17
<i>State v. Black</i> , 2000 WI App 175, 238 Wis. 2d 203, 617 N.W.2d 21019-20
<i>State v. Cheers</i> , 102 Wis.2d 367, 306 N.W.2d 676 (1981)20
<i>State v. Dearborn</i> , 2010 WI 84, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W. 2d 9722
<i>State v. Eason</i> , 2001 WI 98, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 62527

<i>State v. Friday</i> , 147 Wis. 2d 359, 434 N.W.2d 85 (1990)18-20				
<i>State v. Middleton</i> , 135 Wis. 2d 297, 399 N.W.2d 917 (Ct. App. 1986)18				
<i>State v. Mitchell,</i> 167 Wis. 2d 672, 482 N.W. 2d 365 (1982)26				
<i>State v. Pasek,</i> 50 Wis. 2d 619, 184 N.W.2d 836 (1971)27				
<i>State v. Ott,</i> 2015 WI App 75, 365 Wis. 2d 194, 870 N.W.2d 24710				
State v. Slawek, 114 Wis. 2d 332, 338 N.W.2d 120 (Ct. App. 1983)16				
<i>State v. Ward</i> , 2000 WI 3, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 51714				
Federal Cases Cited:				
Federal Cases Cited:				
Federal Cases Cited: Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009)				
Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009)22-24				
Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009)				
Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009)				
Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009)				
Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009)				
Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009)				
Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009)				

Shadwick v. City of Tampa, 407 U.S. 345 (1972)13-14
<i>Thornton v U.S.</i> , 541 U.S. 616 (2004)22
<i>United States v. Clark</i> , 559 F.2d 420 (5th Cir. 1977)18
Other Case Cited:
City of Birmingham v. 48th Dist. Court Judge, 255 N.W.2d 760 (Mich. App. 1977)14
<i>State v. Chamu-Hernandez,</i> 212 P.3d 514 (Or. App. 2009)14
<i>State v. Fremont</i> , 749 N.W.2d 234 (Iowa 2008)13
Wisconsin Statutes Cited:
Section 940.3225, 27-28
Section 968.1124-25
Section 968.0725-26
Section 346.8017

Other Authority Cited:

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER A "TEMPORARY ARREST WARRANT" IS LAWFUL, AND A LAWFUL MEANS OF CAUSING THE ARREST OF A SUSPECT BY ANOTHER LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCY, WHEN THERE WAS MORE THAN ADEQUATE TIME TO SEEK AN ARREST WARRANT.

The trial court answered: Yes.

II. WHETHER A LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCY CAN CIRCUMVENT THE JURISDICTIONAL SCOPE OF ITS AUTHORITY TO ACT, BY ISSUING A TEMPORARY FELONY WARRANT, WITHOUT COMMUNICATING THE FACTS UPON WHICH IT IS BASED, AND THEN ORCHESTRATE, DIRECT, AND PARTICIPATE IN THE ARREST BY ANOTHER LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCY ACTING AS ITS PROXY, ONLY TO THEN IMMEDIATELY TAKE CUSTODY OF THE SUSPECT.

The trial court answered: Yes.

III. WHETHER AN ARREST BY A POLICE OFFICER, WHO HAS NO KNOWLEDGE OF ANY OF THE FACTS PUTATIVELY ESTABLISHING PROBABLE CAUSE FOR THE ARREST, IS LAWFUL.

The trial court answered: Yes.

IV. WHETHER A VEHICLE SEARCH CONDUCTED BY LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICIALS OUTSIDE OF THEIR JURISDICTION IS LAWFUL.

The trial court answered: Yes.

V. WHETHER AN AUTOMOBILE SEARCH INCIDENT TO ARREST IS LAWFUL WHEN THE SUSPECT HAS ALREADY BEEN SECURED IN A POLICE VEHICLE AND THE CRIME FOR WHICH HE HAS BEEN ARRESTED IS "STALKING," CONTRARY TO SECTION 940.32, STATS., BASED LARGELY ON VOICEMAILS AND MAILED LETTERS FROM AN INDIVIDUAL OF A GENDER DIFFERENT FROM THE SUSPECT.

The trial court answered: Yes.

VI. WHETHER A VEHICLE SEARCH INCIDENT TO ARREST AND CONDUCTED OUTSIDE OF THE ARRESTEE'S IMMEDIATE PRESENCE VIOLATES SECTION 968.11, STATS.

The trial court answered: No.

VII. WHETHER THE POLICE HAD PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST THE DEFENDANT FOR STALKING WHEN THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHED THAT THE HARRASSING LETTERS AND VOICEMAILS WERE FROM A FEMALE, LEAVING THE DEFENDANT CONNECTED TO A SINGLE ACT, WHICH IS NOT A COURSE OF CONDUCT.

The trial court answered: Yes.

VIII. WHETHER AN APPLICATION FOR A SEARCH WARRANT BASED ON AN ALLEGATION OF "STALKING" IS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT WHEN IT FAILS TO AVER, MUCH LESS ESTABLISH PROBABLE CAUSE FOR, ONE OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME.

The trial court answered: Yes.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The appellant believes the Court's opinion in this case will meet the criteria for publication as it will clarify and develop the law surrounding "temporary arrest warrants."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The appellant does not request oral argument insofar as he believes the briefs will sufficiently explicate the facts and law necessary for this Court to decide the issues presented.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. The Criminal Complaint.

On August 24, 2016, the plaintiff-respondent, State of Wisconsin, filed a criminal complaint charging defendantappellant, Eric Burrows, with felony stalking, contrary to section 940.32(2), Stats. (R11). The alleged target of Burrows' alleged stalking was his ex-girlfriend, E.W. (*Id.*). Curiously, the allegations consisted of E.W. receiving threatening letters and phone calls from an unknown *female*, directed to E.W.'s workplace in August of 2016, and the delivery of a small, non-poisonous, baby snake to E.W.'s apartment manager on August 17, 2016. (*Id.*). The 38-year-old Burrows had no prior criminal record, nor had E.W. ever complained of any domestic problems with Burrows, or petitioned for a restraining order, harassment or otherwise, against him. (R47-32).

B. Burrows' And E.W.'s Relationship.

Burrows and E.W., who had dated in high school, reconnected in January of 2015, and began living together at Burrows' residence until June 25, 2016, when E.W. moved out. (R47-34-37). After E.W. moved out, both started to date other individuals (E.W. began seeing "Ben," while Burrows began seeing "Amy"). (*Id.*). Despite dating others, E.W. and Burrows remained in contact through phone calls, texts, and emails. (*Id.* at 38-58). On July 12, 2016, Burrows returned a nude photo E.W. had given him, and suggested she give it to her new boyfriend, whereupon E.W. blocked Burrows' phone calls and text messages. (R48-4). Burrows never gave the photo to anyone but E.W. (*Id.*).

After July 12, 2016, communications between Burrows and E.W. consisted of emails only, with Burrows attempting to rekindle the relationship. (R47-38-58). In early August of 2016, E.W. returned a ring Burrows had given her, though again, the two continued exchanging emails up until August 18, 2016, when Burrows was arrested. (*Id.*). None of the emails contained any threats of any nature by Burrows, nor was there any evidence of any psychological distress by E.W. (*Id.*). To the contrary, E.W. was a willing participant in the email dialogue, and responded to Burrows on 42 occasions from July 20 through August 18, 2016. (*Id.*). Notably absent from these emails were any requests by E.W. that Burrows cease contacting her, or any reference by E.W. to having received threatening phone calls or letters from anyone. (*Id.*). The absence of such references is revealing, given that on August 8, 2016, E.W. had contacted Sheboygan Police to report threatening phone calls at her workplace. (R48-2).

C. Actions By A *Female* Actor Gave Rise To Complaint.

As it turned out, E.W. had received a workplace voicemail on August 3^{rd} , and another on August 8^{th} , both from a *female* caller. (R48-3). The profanity laced calls warned E.W. to stay away from "Ben," E.W.'s new boyfriend, and apparently the anonymous callers' love interest. (*Id.*). The caller warned E.W. she could make problems for her if she did not cease her contact with Ben, and the calls were profanity laced. (*Id.*). While the source of the phone calls had been blocked by the caller and could not be identified, the caller presented as a woman jilted by the fact E.W. was moving in on her boyfriend, or ex-boyfriend, "Ben." (*Id.*).

E.W.'s new boyfriend Ben was also E.W.'s co-worker, explaining why the calls were directed to E.W.'s workplace. Thus, it was not surprising their workplace was also the location where two letters arrived on August 9th, accusing E.W. of having a sexual relationship during work hours with "Ben," and threatening to come to the workplace and cause trouble if it did not stop. (R48-6). E.W. discussed the threatening calls and letters with Detective Clark of the Sheboygan Police Department, allowed him to review her cell phone, and on August 10, 2016, gave him the letters, one of which stated, in part:

International Motors Sheboygan

Here is a Suggestion. If I were you I would immediately do something about that blonde whore that you have working in the Subaru Sales Depart. [E.W.] That bitch has been screwing my man Ben.... I would take this very serious cause I have nothing to lose besides him.

(*Id*.).

Upon reviewing the letters, Detective Clark opined that like the phone calls, the author of the letters was *female*:

I met with Erica on today's date at the Sheboygan PD. She brought with her two letters that had been delivered via mail to her employer yesterday....Both letters appeared to have been mailed via US mail....The had [sic] writing appears to be that of a female....

(R48-6). On or about August 13th, another letter was received by E.W.'s ex-husband, again authored by a female, voicing similar complaints about the relationship between E.W. and Ben. (*Id.*).

Finally, on August 17, 2016, a box addressed to E.W. was dropped off at the main office of her apartment complex. (R48-8-9). Sarah Torres, the apartment manager, called E.W. and advised that a box had been delivered to the complex that morning for her. (*Id.*). E.W. called Detective Clark and informed him of the delivery, and they met at the apartment complex. (*Id.*). According to Torres, two different phone calls had come into the apartment office that day from a male caller, one at 11:48 a.m. and one at 12:13 p.m., both inquiring about the status of the box delivery. (R48-8-24). Once there, E.W. and Detective Clark allegedly looked at the caller ID on the apartment complex phone to glean information about who the caller may have been. (*Id.*).

At this point, the investigation yielded allegations that would turn out to be demonstrably false. According to the police reports, E.W. looked at the phone numbers and claimed the first one came come from B & B Metal Processing (920-693-2874), where Burrows worked, and the second one from Burrows' cell phone. (*Id.*). A digital extraction of Burrows' cell phone, however, would later reveal that no call was placed from his phone to the apartment complex on the date and time in question. (R48-45). Similarly, the phone records for B & B Metal Processing's business phone also revealed that neither was any call placed from that phone to the apartment complex on the date and time in question. (R48-57). The only way to reconcile these otherwise incompatible facts is to conclude the caller was "spoofing," which in the modern vernacular means someone besides Burrows made the phone calls appear to be coming from him.

In either event, E.W. never took possession of the box or viewed its contents. Rather, Sheboygan police took the sealed box from the apartment complex. After having it xrayed at a local hospital, the box was taken and finally opened at the Sheboygan Police department by Officer Olsen. (R48-10-11). Deborah Knockson, a local reptile expert present when the box was opened, identified the contents of the box as a nonpoisonous baby ball python, a safe snake routinely kept as a household pet. (*Id.*). The baby snake was turned over to Knockson for safekeeping at her residence. (*Id.*).

D. The August 18, 2016, Arrest Of Burrows.

Although E.W. and Detective Clark agreed a *female* was behind the phone calls and letters, E.W. fancied Burrows, who lived in Manitowoc County, a possible suspect. Accordingly, on August 17, 2016, the Sheboygan police sent the Manitowoc County Sheriff's Department notice that a "temporary warrant has been entered regarding Sheboygan Case C16-15346 Stalking" against Burrows." (R48-36). A search of the court files and police records received from the Sheboygan County District Attorney via discovery procedures revealed no actual warrant for Burrows' arrest.

Nevertheless, to further justify their arrest request, the Sheboygan Police Department escalated the warrantless arrest with unsupported warnings of "Officer Safety," and advised that Burrows was dangerous and likely armed. The CAD computer request for arrest issued by the Sheboygan police stated as follows:

> 8/17/2016 18:57:52 D926 Narrative: ATL **OFFICER SAFETY** ERIC R BURROWS...A TEMPORARY WARRANT HAD BEEN ENTERED REGARDING

SHEBOYGAN CASE C16-15346 STALKING. VICTIM IS [E.W.]. ...ERIC IS KNOWN TO BE A NAZI SYMPATHIZER AND IS HEAVILY ARMED AT THIS RESIDENCE. HE WILL LIKELY BE ARMED IN ANY VEHICLE HE IS DRIVING... ERIC MAY BE DRIVING ANY ONE OF THE LISTED VEHICLES BELOW ... [LIST OF VEHICLES] **USE CAUTION WHEN COMING IN CONTACT WITH ERIC AS HE HAS REPEATEDLY STATED HE HAS NOTHING TO LOSE.

(R48-36). It should be noted the "nothing to lose" remark had been made by the female caller, not Burrows.¹ (R48-3).

The next day, August 18, 2016, two Sheboygan police officers traveled to Manitowoc County to orchestrate the arrest of Burrows. Detective Clark summarized these activities as follows:

> On 8/18/2016 Det. Stewart and myself conducted surveillance on B&B Metals in Newton, WI [Manitowoc County]. At approximately 4:46 pm we observed a blue Ford F450 truck belonging to Eric Burrows leave B&B and proceed south on Hwy 42. I had requested assistance from the Manitowoc County Sheriff's Office and they performed a felony stop on the vehicle due to the weapons history with Eric.

(R48-12). What "weapons history," if any, Burrows had was not elaborated and as previously noted, Burrows had no criminal history.

Nevertheless, acting upon the notice and the false "officer safety" warnings, five police vehicles descended upon

¹ At the time the notice was issued, Detective Clark knew the "nothing to lose" quote was made not by Burrows, but instead, by whatever female, identifying herself as an ex-girlfriend of "Ben" (E.W.'s new boyfriend), had made that claim in a letter. Detective Clark also knew the voice threats made against E.W. had also been made by a *female*.

Burrows' vehicle loaded with deputies armed with rifles and wearing tactical gear. (R191-70). Sheboygan Police officers watched as Manitowoc officers took Burrows from his truck, pushed him to the ground, handcuffed him and then secured him in a Manitowoc police squad car. (R48-12). Contrary to the Sheboygan Police Department's CAD notice, Burrows was *not* armed and did *not* resist the officers with violence. (*Id.*). After Burrows had been secured in the Manitowoc squad car, the Sheboygan police officers took custody of him and then conducted a search of Burrows' vehicle. (R191-36). They entered his vehicle and seized his cell phone and other papers without a warrant. (R48-12). No weapons or contraband of any kind were found in Burrows' vehicle during this search.² (*Id.*).

E. Further Search Warrants And The Letter Mailed To E.W. While Burrows Remained In Custody.

After Burrows was taken into custody on August 18, 2016, in Manitowoc County, he was eventually turned over to Detective Clark and, following a short interrogation, jailed. (R48-12-13). The fruits of the evidence seized from Burrows' vehicle in the wake of his arrest was then leveraged to obtain a series of warrants to search Burrows' residence where Sheboygan police seized his computer, wireless printer, and other papers. (*Id.*). The warrant to search Burrows' residence did not include an application for entry into his truck, or for seizure of his cell phone and papers in the truck, a seizure that, as noted, had already occurred earlier that day. (R48-12).

Burrows remained in the Sheboygan jail until August 23, 2016, on which day he was released after posting bond. On August 24, 2016, the complaint was filed, and Burrows made his initial appearance. The complaint, however, conveniently omitted two critical developments in the investigation that had

² As noted, Burrows had no criminal record, no history of violence, and was a respected business owner in Manitowoc County. The overblown and hyperbolic notice ("heavily armed at his residence," "likely armed in any vehicle he is driving," "nothing to lose," etc.) created an unnecessary risk that Burrows, a law-abiding citizen, could have been mistakenly shot by police.

occurred on August 22, 2016, while Burrows was still in jail. (R11).

First, on that date, four days after Burrows' arrest and while he was still in jail, E.W. received an additional threatening letter from a *female* that referenced the earlier phone calls and letters. (R48-21-22). This letter bore a postmark of August 19, 2016, the day *after* Burrows' arrest, and a day on which Burrows was still in jail. (*Id.*). E.W. immediately contacted Detective Clark about the August 19th letter. After reviewing the letter, which had come inside of a get-well card, Detective Clark opined that the letter addressed to E.W. was from a woman and described its contents:

> The letter within is addressed to [E.W.] and starts with the line. "I must say you are the biggest lying CUNT I have ever known almost as big as you nose is." It continues on as if from the position of a jilted ex-girlfriend of Ben and eventually says "Now your lies are going to cos (sic) you a little trip down the road to St. Nicks." It also stated "I was by you the other day, CUNT. You seen me, I seen you. I was going to rip your fucking hair outta your head but you where (sic) trying to feed LIES to some poor family that doesn't realize how you ruin peoples lives, so I backed Down. Don't be too disappointed, I will come back for you Bitch." It also again references the army, as well as telling [E.W.] to go back to her little snake hole.

(R48-21-22).

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