STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

10-01-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018AP000770 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC BURROWS,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Appealed from a Judgement of Conviction in the Circuit Court of Sheboygan County, Wisconsin, The Honorable Judge L. Edward Stengel Presiding Trial Court Case No. 2016 CF 535

> Joel Urmanski District Attorney Sheboygan County

By: Alexandra K. Smathers Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1083181

615 North 6th Street Sheboygan, Wisconsin 53081 (920) 459-3040

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

"[A]s a general matter determinations of reasonable suspicion and probable cause should be reviewed *de novo* on appeal." *Ornelas v. United States*, 517 U.S. 690, 699, 116 S. Ct. 1657, 1663, 134 L. Ed. 2d 911 (1996). However, the reviewing court "should take care both to review findings of historical fact only for clear error and to give due weight to inferences drawn from those facts by resident judges and local law enforcement officers." *Id.* This is because a trial judge and law enforcement view the facts of a case through a particular lens distinctive to their community and their experiences. *Id.*

In this case, there was ample circumstantial evidence to support the arrest of Burrows for stalking Erica W. Sheboygan County Commissioner Ryan O'Rourke found so. (R. 1, 3, 7.) Sheboygan County Circuit Court Judge L. Edward Stengel found so as well. (R. 18, 62, 190 at 44:3-8, 191 at 48:1-2.) Both made the finding on numerous occasions.

First, Burrows was the only one with motive to commit the series of acts: he was a jilted lover, unwilling to accept the fact that Erica W. had not only left him, but moved on. The letters and voicemails were also not out of the blue. They were preceded by a very controlling relationship and, when that relationship ended, a litany of texts, phone calls, and emails from Burrows, ranging from pleading to abusive. Abusive, very much like what was to follow.

Second, evidence pointed to the fact that the letters—to her employer, ex-husband, son's Army recruiter—were written by or at the direction of Burrows. That the letters (with the exception of the one to the Army recruiter) were written from the perspective of a female did not mask the fact that (1) no such female with her stated relationship to Ben K. existed, and (2) the letters contained information that only Burrows and those close to Erica W. would know about herself and her family. The language and style of all of these letters were consistent, matching that of the language used on the note in the box containing the snake. Even the letter to the Army recruiter contained the

same basic allegation contained in all the other letters: her "pot head son" should not be in the Army.

Third, evidence pointed to the fact that the voicemails left at Erica W.'s employer were at the direction of Burrows. The voicemails were, according to Officer Endsley, clearly scripted, with the female caller stumbling over her words and having to go back to restate things. A female caller who's relationship to Ben K. did not exist. They too contained information that only Burrows and those close to Erica W. would know. They too contained similar language and content as those found in the letters and on the note in the box.

Fourth, Burrows was tied to the delivery of the snake in the box through the two phone calls made after it was left. One was a female voice, but from Burrows' personal cell phone number (lending further credibility to the fact that the female voice in the voicemails and letters was at the direction of Burrows). The other was a male voice from his work phone number, reasonably believed to be Burrows himself. In fact, the secretary even linked the male voice to an earlier phone call asking for Erica W.'s address to deliver a package. And Burrows certainly knew Erica W. had moved to that apartment complex, given the "Get real, up yours" letter.

Though he was not caught with his hand in the proverbial cookie jar, but all of the evidence when stacked together pointed to only one person: Burrows. The letters, voicemails, text messages, emails, phone

calls, and finally the snake; the motive, opportunity, and clear intent. It all constituted a course of conduct, a quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe Burrows committed the crime of Stalking. The evidence at that point may not have reached the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt or even that guilt is more likely than not, but it was far more than possibility or suspicion. Detective Clark thought so. Commissioner O'Rourke thought so. And Judge Stengel thought so. This Court, in reviewing whether probable cause existed, should give due deference to their findings and find probable cause did exist to arrest Burrows.

II. BURROWS ARREST WAS PROPER UNDER THE COLLECTIVE KNOWLEDGE DOCTRINE

When reviewing a circuit court's ruling on a motion to suppress evidence, this Court applies the clearly erroneous standard to the circuit court's finding of facts. *State v. Vorburger*, 2002 WI 105, ¶ 32, 255 Wis.2d 537, 648 N.W.2d 829. In doing so, this Court should "uphold the trial court's findings . . . unless it is against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *State v. Tomlinson*, 2002 WI 91, ¶ 36, 254 Wis.2d 502, 648 N.W.2d 367.

A. A Temporary Felony Warrant Is a Tool to Communicate Probable Cause to Other Jurisdictions under the Collective Knowledge Doctrine

"A 'temporary felony want' or 'temporary warrant' meant that the suspect was alleged to have committed a felony and should be apprehended promptly, and that there was information sufficient to support an arrest warrant, but that no arrest warrant had yet been issued." *State v. Collins*, 122 Wis. 2d 320, 323, 363 N.W.2d 229, 230 (Ct. App. 1984). In other words, it is a tool used by law enforcement officers to communicate to other law enforcement officers that probable cause exists to arrest an individual for a felony crime and that that person should be taken into custody immediately.

This is an important tool because under the collective knowledge doctrine, officers can rely and act on the basis of knowledge of other officers, without themselves knowing the underlying facts, so long as reasonable suspicion or probable cause underlies the collective knowledge of the other officers. *State v. Pickens*, 2010 WI App 5, ¶¶ 12-15, 323 Wis. 2d 226, 779 N.W.2d 1; *United States v. Hensley*, 469 U.S. 221, 232, 105 S.Ct. 675, 83 L.Ed.2d 604 (1985). That is to say, the police force is considered as a unit, and where there is police-channel communication to an arresting officer, the arrest is based on probable cause when such facts exist within a police department. *See State v. Rissley*, 2012 WI App

112, ¶ 19, 344 Wis. 2d 422, 824 N.W.2d 853 (citation omitted).

In order for the collective knowledge doctrine to apply, however, the department or officer with the knowledge supporting probable cause must communicate the existence of probable cause to the arresting officer before the arrest. The information that needs to be communicated to the responding officers is not the facts underlying the probable cause; but rather, only the fact that probable cause exists. *Pickens*, 2010 WI App 5, ¶¶ 11-12; *Hensley*, 469 U.S. at 229-31; *Schaffer v. State*, 75 Wis. 2d 673, 676, 250 N.W.2d 326 (1977), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Walker*, 154 Wis. 2d 158, 185-86, 453 N.W.2d 127 (1990).

In fact, police officers often properly act on the basis of the knowledge of other offices and even other jurisdictions without knowing the underlying facts. For example, an investigating officer with knowledge of facts amounting to probable cause may direct a second officer without such knowledge to detain a suspect. A responding officer can rely on an "attempt to locate" or police bulletin to make a stop or an arrest. Even going back to the Old West, deputies could take criminals into custody based on Wanted posters alone, carrying no more information than the fact probable cause exists and for what crime.

When those scenarios occur, the focus of the inquiry is not on whether the officer who took the suspect into custody had the knowledge of specific and articulable facts supporting probable cause at the time of the arrest, but on whether the officer who initiated the arrest did. *Hensley*, 469 U.S. at 231-32; *Pickens*, 2010 WI App 5, ¶¶ 11-12. So long as that second officer is acting in good faith upon the collective knowledge of the other officer, then the arrest is legally justified. *Schaffer*, 75 Wis. 2d at 676-77; *see also State v. Taylor*, 60 Wis. 2d 506, 515, 210 N.W.2d 873 (1973) (stating that officers acting in good faith on basis of police dispatch may assume probable cause has been established, and it is reasonable for an officer relying on such a dispatch to apprehend the suspect of the dispatch).

In this case, probable cause existed to arrest Burrows for Stalking and that information was within the knowledge of Detective Clark. *See supra* Part I. Detective Clark communicated the fact that probable cause existed to arrest Burrows for Stalking to the Manitowoc County Sheriff's Department, both through the temporary felony warrant and when coordinating Burrows' arrest on August 18, 2016.

Defendant-Appellant argues that the Manitowoc County Sheriff Department deputies needed to possess knowledge establishing probable cause to arrest Burrows before they could do so. (App's Br. at IIB.) This argument is contrary to well established case law. In fact, it is even contrary to one of the cases relied upon by the Defendant-Appellant. (*Id.* at 19-20.)

In *State v. Black*, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals cited *Schaffer* in holding that arresting officers who have not personally acquired factual information to establish probable cause can still rely on the collective information of the police, can act in good faith on the basis of that information, and can assume at the time of apprehension that probable cause has been established. 2000 WI App 175 n.4, 238 Wis. 2d 203, 617 N.W. 2d 210. The difference in *Black* was that the detectives who possessed the knowledge of probable cause did not communicate the fact that probable cause existed to the patrol officer, but merely asked the patrol officer to get the suspect's identification. *Id.* at ¶ 17.

The same is true in *State v. Friday*, also cited by the Defendant-Appellant. 140 Wis.2d 701, 412 N.W.2d 540 (1987).² In that case, the State tried to impute uncommunicated information to another officer to justify a search. *Id.* at 712. The court ruled this impermissible and in doing so, cited *Schaffer*:

Where an officer relies upon a police communication in making an arrest, in the absence of his personal knowledge of probable cause, the arrest will only be based on probable cause, and thus valid, when such facts exist within the police department.

Id. at 714 (citing Schaffer, 75 Wis.2d at 677); see also State v. Cheers, 102 Wis.2d 367, 388, 306 N.W.2d 676

² The Defendant-Appellant cites to 147 Wis.2d 359, 434 N.W.2d 85 (1990), which is the 1989 Wisconsin Supreme Court case that overruled the Court of Appeals decision on other grounds. (App.'s Br. at 18.) It is the Court of Appeals decision that deals with the issue of the collective knowledge doctrine, so the State will rely on that when making its argument.

(1981) ("[W]here an arresting officer is given information through police channels such as roll call, this court's assessment of whether the arrest was supported by probable cause is to be made on the collective knowledge of the police force."). The *Friday* Court also cited a variety of other cases where the collective knowledge doctrine was inappropriate, and in each the information the State tried to input on the other officers was wholly uncommunicated. *Friday*, 140 Wis.2d at 714-15.

Again, that was not the case here. Detective Clark—through the temporary arrest warrant and in coordinating Burrows' arrest—communicated to the Manitowoc County Sheriff's Department deputies the fact that probable cause existed to arrest Burrows. Moreover, the deputies had jurisdiction and they acted in good faith upon Detective Clark's communication.

B. Manitowoc County Sheriff's Department Deputies, not Sheboygan Police Department Detectives, Took Burrows into Custody

The communication between the law two enforcement agencies was necessary because Detective Clark did not have jurisdiction to act in Manitowoc County and was trying to effectuate the cleanest and safest arrest of Burrows as possible—something that was difficult because Burrows lived and worked in Manitowoc County. Detective Clark also wanted to arrest Burrows as soon as possible, given the ongoing abusive conduct and the recent escalation of his behavior (e.g. sending a snake in a box to her doorstep).

Detective Clark did exactly what the general public would expect a law enforcement officer to do: he coordinated with the proper authorities so that Burrows could lawfully be arrested, then turned over to him. This again is something that law enforcement does every day. Suspects live in other jurisdictions, they flee, and they jump bail. When they need to be apprehended, the law enforcement agencies communicate and coordinate with each other to take that person into custody and transport him to the proper jurisdiction to face his charges.

Detectives Clark and Stewart, though present and assisting in the form of communicating their observations, did not take Burrows into custody. They did not pull him over, order him out of the vehicle, handcuff him, or do anything that would at all indicate they were exercising their official police power over him. Instead, they stood by and allowed the Manitowoc Sheriff's Department deputies to do their job in their jurisdiction, then and only then taking custody of Burrows to be transported back to Sheboygan.

Judge Stengel agreed with the State and denied Burrows' motion to suppress on these grounds. In doing so, he ruled that probable cause existed to arrest Burrows and that the Manitowoc County Sheriff's Department deputies who effectuated the arrest "certainly [were] justified in relying upon information furnished to them by another law enforcement agency." (*Id.* at 47:24-48:2.)

Given all the evidence and case law as outlined above, this ruling is not clearly erroneous and should be upheld.

III. THE SEARCH OF BURROWS' VEHICLE WAS A LAWFUL SEARCH INCIDENT TO ARREST

A. The Jurisdictional Issue was Not Properly before the Trial Court so the Issue Should be Deemed Waived

The Defendant-Appellant argues, without any legal authority, that Detectives Clark and Stewart did not have jurisdiction to effectuate the search incident to arrest on Burrows' vehicle. (App.'s Br. at III.A.) This is the first time they raised this issue. It was not raised in their motion to suppress nor addressed by either party at the motion hearing. (*See* R. 47, 191.)

"Defenses and objections based on . . . the use of illegal means to secure evidence shall be raise before trial by motion or be deemed waived." Wis. Stat. § 971.31(2) (2017-18). "The court may consider constitutional errors not raised at trial if it is in the interest of justice to do so and no factual issues need to be resolved." *Madison v. State*, 64 Wis. 2d 564, 573, 219 N.W.2d 259, 263 (1974).

The interest of justice does not require this issue to be considered and, further, there are factual issues that would need to be resolved for this Court to do so. Because this issue was not raised in the Defendant-Appellant's trial court motion or at the motion hearing, the State did not have adequate opportunity to question Detective Clark as to how the search incident to arrest came about. For example, did Detective Clark ask the Manitowoc County Sheriff's Department deputies for permission to search? Did the deputies request or direct Detectives Clark and Stewart to effectuate the search? Did the deputies supervise the search? Or did the detectives simply take it upon themselves to search the vehicle? Further, the State may have subpoenaed the Manitowoc County Sheriff's Department deputies to testify at the hearing if these issues were unresolved with Detective Clark's testimony.

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